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ce County et al

HONORABLE RONALD B. LEIGHTON

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON
AT TACOMA

RONALD JONES, CASE NO. C13-5280 RBL

Plaintiff, ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND
DENYING IN PART DEFENDANTS’
V. MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT

PIERCE COUNTY, et al.,

DKT. #26
Defendants.

THIS MATTER is before the Court on Defgants’ motion for summary judgment [DK

#26]. In 2011, The Pierce County Sheriff's Deparnimesed a police dog to arrest Jones on

warrant. Deputy Brett Karhu, thergae handler, thought that Jonessvedout to flee into a daf

wooded area, so he released the dog withimirtg a warning. The dog apprehended Jones |
biting him on the arm, which caused Jones sigaift pain and injuriesJones is suing Deputy
Karhu and Pierce County for the incident. &lleges that Karhu unnecessarily deployed the
and then allowed it to bite him longer tha@cessary. He has brought 42 U.S.C. § 1983
excessive force claims and a number of statetdait claims againdtarhu and the County.

Karhu and the County now mo¥@ summary judgment.

ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT -1

Doc. 66
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l. BACKGROUND

Jones is a drug user and has a long crinfirsibry. In 2009, he was convicted under
Washington State law of possessing methamphetanikierevas sentenced to six months and
day of confinement to be followed by oneay of community cuetly. Because he was
convicted of a non-violent, non-sexual offentse was allowed to serve his confinement perig
at a community custody treatment facility.

At some point during his sentence, Jonepsd reporting to hisupervising corrections
officer, so a warrant was issued for his arfesEscaping Community Custody (a felony). Ot
February 5, 2011, the Sheriff's Department recg@eip that Jones was staying at a house if
Puyallup, Washington. Deputies James MaasJasdn Bray responded to the tip. They kne|
Jones from previous encounters and had arréstednultiple times for other offenses. The
deputies claim that Jones has a reputation astdrigiof running from officers, but they admit
that they have never withessed or heard repofgobeing violent. Jones disputes that he R
run from officers. In any ent, the deputies requested hazkrom a K-9 unit because they
thought that Jones might try iee. Deputy Karhu and his do@ni, responded to their reques

When the three deputies met at the house, Mad®Bray told Karhu that Jones had ru
in the past, and they showed him a picturdafes. The house’s back yard opens up to a
wooded area. The deputies thouglat ihJones attempted to rume would likely try to escape
out the back door and flee into the woods. SahKavent to the back yard and knelt down n¢
to Oni in an area concealed by a dark shatldwr 15 feet from the house’s small back patio
where he could not be seen.

As Karhu took his position in the back yakdiaas and Bray walked to the front door a

knocked. As Karhu waited in the shadows with Oni, he saw Jones walk out the back doo|
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as he had thought he might. According to Karhu, Jones came out onto the lit patio, looke
around, and then started walking towards the grisshu could see both of Jones’s hands a
that he was not holding any wems. Nevertheless, he decided to send Oni without giving
warning. Karhu used his flashlight to illuminate Jones as Oni approached, which caused
pause and look in Karhu’s ditgan right before Oni bit him on the arm and took him to the
ground*

The parties dispute how long Grontinued to bite Jones. Kuai claims that he quickly
followed Oni and gave the command to releasdites According to Jones, Karhu allowed G
to continue biting him well after he was securéte claims that Karhu approached him and
grabbed Oni’'s harness. When Karhu grabbedctrness, Oni eased his bite momentarily, b
then bit down with renewed vigor. Only thenl d#iarhu finally release Oni’s bite. After Oni
released him, Jones was arrestedtaken to the hospital for medical care.

Jones is suing Karhu and the County for tloegdient. He has asserted § 1983 excessi
force claims against Karhu for unnecessarilgldging Oni without first giving a warning and
for allowing Oni to continue biting him well & he had been apprehended. He has also
asserted state-law claims against Karhu for theofd@utrage, assauhggligence, and neglige
infliction of emotional distress. Agaihthe County, Jones has asserted § 1M88ell claims
and a state-law claim under RCM8.08.040, the Washington strictdifity dog bite statute.

. DiscussiON
Deputy Karhu and the County move for suamnjudgment on all of Jones’s claims.

Summary judgment is appropriatden, viewing the facts in¢hlight most favorable to the

1 Jones claims that he went outside towke was at the door. When he could not se
who was there, he turned around to go back insutiech is when Karhu shined his flashlight
him and then he was bitten.
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nonmoving party, there is no genaiissue of material faethich would preclude summary
judgment as a matter of law. Once the movingypaas satisfied its burden, it is entitled to
summary judgment if the non-movipgrty fails to present, by affavits, depositions, answers
interrogatories, or admissions on file, “specificttashowing that theiie a genuine issue for
trial.” Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 324 (1986). “The mendastence of a scintilla of
evidence in support of the non-movingty& position is not sufficient.”Triton Energy Corp. v
Square D Cq.68 F.3d 1216, 1221 (9th Cir. 1995). Fattliaputes whose selution would not
affect the outcome of the suit are irrelevemnthe consideration @ motion for summary
judgment. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inel77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). In other words,
“summary judgment should be granted wheegertbnmoving party fails to offer evidence fron
which a reasonable [fact finder] couleturn a [decision] in its favor.Triton Energy 68 F.3d at
1220.

A. Claims Against Karhu
1. 8§ 1983 Excessive Force

Karhu argues that his use of force was ldwkcause Jones was being arrested for a
felony, he did not know if Jones was armed, it apgetéo him that Jones was trying to flee, th
situation would have been more dangerousiied had entered intoethvoods, and because th
situation was rapidly evolving. Jones contetindd the use of such significant force was not
warranted, especially because Karhu failedit@ a warning before releasing Oni.

The Fourth Amendment protects an individsiaight to be free fsm a police officer’s
use of excessive force. To determine whether an officer used excessive force, the naturg
guality of the intrusion must carefully besighed against the countervailing governmental

interest in the use of forcdeorle v. Rutherford272 F.3d 1272, 1279 (9th Cir.2001) (citing
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Graham,490 U.S. at 396, 109 S.Ct. 1865). Whemdao, the circumstances must be judge
objectively from the perspective of a reasonable officer on the stene.

When considering the reasonatéss of the force used, imfaont considerations includ
(1) the severity of the crimar situation that the officawas responding to; (2) whether the
plaintiff posed an immediate threat to the satdtthe officer or othes; and (3) whether the
plaintiff was actively resieng arrest or attempting &vade arrest by flightGraham v. Conngr
490 U.S. 386, 397, 109 S.Ct. 1865 (1989). Another important consideratios garticularly
relevant to this case is whether the officer gawearning before using force that could cause
serious injury.Deorle, 272 F.3d at 1283—-84. The reasonablen€&as officer’s use of force is
highly fact-dependent, so parties are rareljtled to summary judgment on the merits of an
excessive force claimSmith v. City of HemeB94 F.3d 689, 701 (9th Cir. 2005).

At the outset, the parties’ differing accouatdow long it took Karhu to release Oni a
enough to preclude summary judgment. The twoimessvary greatly. IKarhu is believed, he
released Oni quickly and without delay. If tieatrue, then the duratn of the bite was not a
violation of Jones’s rights. But if Jonesdahis friends are believed, Karhu unnecessarily
delayed releasing Oni and even repositioned him on Jones’s arm. If that is true, then a ju
certainly find that Karhu wlated Jones’s rights.

It is also not clear that Kau could not have given a warnibgfore releasing Oni or tha
the circumstances warranted such a significanbtiferce. Because the circumstances must
evaluated from an objective officer's perspeetin Karhu’s position, even when the facts are

viewed in the light most favorable to Jonesritawas likely justified irthinking that Jones wa

j®N

1%

(e

ry could

be

5

attempting to flee. Deputies Maas and BraledaKarhu because they thought that Jones might

flee. Before approaching the house, Maas and Bray told Karhu specifically that Jones had a

DKT. #26 - 5
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history of running. So, when Jones emergedfthe house right after Maas and Bray knocked
on the front door, it was reasonabde Karhu to assume that he was attempting to flee.

But even if Jones was attempting to flegjrg could still find that it was unreasonable
for Karhu to release Oni without first gng a warning. Although Jones was wanted for a
felony, the distinction between felonies and minor offenses can be minor and arbitrary.
Tennessee v. Garnet71 U.S. 1, 14 (1985) (“[W]hile in daar times the gulf between felonieq
and the minor offences was broad and deep, tdaglistinction is minoand often arbitrary.”)
Jones was wanted for failing to report to prolbratible was allowed to serve his sentence forthe
underlying offense in the community presumaldgduse he was not a threat to the public.
Given these circumstances, a reasonable jundamnclude that the severity of the crime and
situation does not support Karhu’s use of force.

A jury could also conclude thabnes did not pose a safety riskhe officers or others.

Simply put, Karhu and the other deputies haveanticulated a reason for believing that Jone

[72)

was a threat to their safety. Deputies Maa$sBray had experience before with Jones befor

D

this incident, and neither oféim had ever witnessed Jonesgeriolent. Karhu argues that it
was dark and that he did not know if Jones watedr so “the threat posed was real.” But he
admits that he could see bothJoines’s hands as he emerged from the house and that he was not
holding any weapons. Although offiseare trained for their safety to assume that suspects|are
armed until they confirm otherwise, they canrady solely on that assumption when deciding
how much force to use. In the context of ancaffis decision to use foe¢it cannot be that not
knowing whether a suspect is armed is the dhing as the suspect actually being armed.
Objective factors must support afficer’'s concern for his safety ¢ine safety of others to justify

the intrusion of using force @t may cause serious injuripeorle, 272 F.3d at 1281.

DKT. #26 - 6
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Lastly, and probably most importantly, a juguld find that in light of all the other
circumstances, it was unreasonable for Kartneli@ase Oni withoutifst warning Jones and

giving him a chance to surrender. When feaginheofficer should warn the suspect or order

him to halt before using force that may result in serious injldyat 1284. Karhu argues that|

was not feasible to give a warning because Jongist have been able to escape into the woq
or arm himself with more time. But it is just ldeely, if not more likey, that Jones would have
heeded a warning, surrendered, and elireth&te need to use force entirely.

Karhu also argues that he had to makelidespcond decision because of the rapidly
evolving circumstances. But as Jones points ohisimesponse, the events transpired exactl
according to the deputies’ plan. Maas and Bemjuested Karhu'’s assistance because they
thought that Jones might flee. Karhu positionedsalf in the shadows in the back yard whel
he could not be seen precisely because heceagbdones to leave out the back door. Althoug
the actual events may have happened quicklyhiKaannot claim that heas caught unaware
that he did not have time to anticipate Josdigjht and think aboutow he would respond.

Ultimately, it is the jury’s role to evaluatdl of the circumstances and to determine
whether it was reasonable for Karhu to release Oni without giving. Karhu’s motion for su
judgment on Jones’s § 1983 against hirdENIED.

2. Outrage

Karhu argues that Jones’s Outrage claimuld be dismissed because there is no
evidence that would support a finding that hisduct was outrageous or extreme. Jones arg
that the outrageousness of a defendaconduct is usually a questiohfact for a jury. To be
liable for the tort of Outrage, a defendant’s asetdnust be “so outrageous in character, and

extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possibiends of decency, and to be regarded as
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atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized societiimsby v. Samso®5 Wash.2d 52, 59
530 P.2d 291 (1975).

Here, the jury should decide whether Karhatsions were so outrageous in character
and so extreme in degree, ab&intolerable in civilized societ Based on the record before 1
Court, it appears unlikely that Jeaneill prevail on this claim. However, a jury might find in |
favor if it is convinced that Kau purposely repositioned Oni on his arm to prolong the bite
otherwise demonstrated somewlil or vindictiveness towards Jones. The motion for summ
judgment on Jones’s Outrage clainDIENIED.

3. Assault

Karhu argues that Jones’s assault claim shbaldismissed because the force that he
used was reasonable and necessary. In Washjngbce officers are liable for assault if they
use excessive forcaBoyles v. City of Kennwick2 Wn.App. 174, 176, 813 P.2d 178 (1991).
Jones’s assault claim thus rises and falls wishelicessive force claim. Because the jury mu
decide whether Karhu used excessive fancemotion to dismiss the assault clainDEENIED.

4, Negligence and Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress

In his response, Jones agrees to dropdagigence claims, so the Defendants’ motion
regarding those claims GRANTED.

B. Claims Against the County

1. § 1983 Mondll Claims

The County contends that Jones has not identified a county policy or custom that ¢

support his municipal liability clai. Jones claims that he has identified both a county polic
and a county custom that can support his claimst,Hie contends speiciélly that the County’s

canine deployment policy unconstitutionally ondtsequirement that officers give a warning
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before using a dog to apprehend a suspect. nfebe contends generally that the County is
deliberately indifferent to thelely constitutional violationghat its use of canines causes.

In order to set forth a claim against amitipality under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, a plaintiff
must show that the defendant’s employees ortagated through an official custom, pattern or
policy that permits deliberate indiffence to, or violateshe plaintiff’s civil rights; or that the
entity ratified the unlawful conducSee Monell v. Departamt of Social Servs436 U.S. 658,
690-91 (1978)Larez v. City of Los Angeled46 F.2d 630, 646—-47 (9th Cir. 1991). Under
Monell, a plaintiff must allege (Ihat a municipality employeealated a constitutional right;
(2) that the municipalityras customs or policies that amotmtleliberate indifference; and (3)
those customs or policies were the “moving&rbehind the constitutional right violation.
Board of County Com’rs v. Browb20 U.S. 397, 404 (1997). Aumicipality is not liable
simply because it employs a tortfeasttonell, 436 U.S. at 691.

Jones contends that the County’s canimdajenent policy was the moving force that
caused Karhu to violate his righiscause it does not require offis to give a warning before

deploying a dog. But the law does not require warnimgdl situations. (fcers are required t

|®)

give a warning only when feasibl®eorle 272 F.3d at 1284. Because the feasibility of a
warning is based on the circumstances, the aectsi give a warning necessarily must be made
by the officer on the scene. Karhu stated irdeiglaration that he knethiat he should give a
warning if feasible, but that he determined tihatas not feasible under the circumstances.
Thus, the County’s policy could not have beenttoving force behind argotential violation.
If Karhu violated Jones’s rights, it was becahsdailed to properly evaluate the situation, not

because the County’s policy does not requineaming regardless of the circumstances.

DKT. #26 - 9
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In addition to arguing that the County’s wargipolicy is facially deficient, Jones also
contends that the County has generally failetlaim and supervise itsanine deputies. He
claims that the County’s lack of attentiondata, details, and recommendations resulted in
Karhu violating his rights. To support that thgalones submitted evidence that the County

not revised its procedures for deploying a dogeil995, has never changed its training met

to comport with case law, does not keep relesgtatistics about came use, and has ignored U}

Department of Justice recommendations regarding dog use.

Again, if any violation occurred it wasbause Karhu misdiagnosed the situation and
improperly determined that a warning was reztdible. Jones has not produced any evideng
that the County has failed to train its deputies when a warnnegjisred. While the evidence
that Jones has submitted might support a muritgdality claim in a different case, he has
failed to show how the alleged deficienciesikd have been the moving force that caused hig
injuries. Accordingly, the County’s motion forramary judgment on Jonesimunicipal liability
claims isGRANTED.

2. Dog Bite Strict Liability

The County argues that Jones’s strict liability claim under RCW 16.08.040 should
dismissed because Karhu’s use of force was lawful. Washifedenal courts have applied
RCW § 16.08.040 to police dogs ameld municipalities liableSee Smith v. City dfuburn,et
al., No. 04—cv-1829-RSM, 2006 WL 1419376, at 7 (W.D.Wash. May 19, 2006) (Martinez
(applying RCW § 16.08.040 to police dogBpgers v. City of Kennewick, et &llg. 04—cv—
5028-EFS, 2007 WL 2055038, at *7 (E.D.Waslty 213, 2007) (Shea, J.) (applying RCW §
16.08.040 to police dogs). As the County recognizessttiw liability claim hinges on whethe
the use of Oni was lawful: “[Stridiability] does not apply to thiawful application of a police

dog....”ld. (emphasis added). But whether Karhu’s ais®ni was lawful is a question for the
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jury. If the jury finds that Karhu’'s use of Oni wainlawful, the County istrictly liable; if
lawful, the County is not liabl&he strict-liability claim agaist the County thus depends on
Jones’s other claims and survives summadgment. The County’s motion to dismiss the
strict-liability claim isDENIED.
[Il.  CONCLUSION

The Defendants’ motion for summary judgment [Dkt. #26RANTED IN PART
AND DENIED IN PART. Karhu is entitled to judgmeas a matter of law on Jones’s
negligence claims, and the County is entitegudgment as a matter of law on Jones’s

municipal liability claim. Quesons of fact preclude summajydgment on all of Jones’s othe
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claims.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

Dated this 8 day of September, 2014.

OB

RONALD B. LEIGHTON
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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